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EMBREE, P.C.J.:

The Defendant is charged that he:

...on or about the 24th day of August, 1993 at or near
Pomquet Harbour, in the County of Antigonish, in tile .
Province of Nova Scotia did:

1. fish for or catch and retain fish (eels) without
being authorized to do so under the authority of a license
issued pursuant to Maritime Provinces Fishery
Regulations, the Fishery (General) Regulations, or the
Aboriginal Communal Fishing Licenses Regulations,
contrary to section 4(1)(a) of the Maritime Provinces
Fishery Regulations, made pursuant to the Fisheries Act,
R.S.C.,1985, c.F-14, as amended, and did thereby conunit
an offence contrary to section 78(a) of the said Fisheries
Act;

2, fish during the close time for eels with
eel nets, which nets were not dip nets, in the waters of
Pomquet Harbour covered by Item 2 of Schedule ill of
the Maritime Provinces Fishery Regulations, contrary to
section 20 of the said Regulations, and did thereby
commit an offence under section 78(a) of the Fisheries
Act;

3, sell or offer to sell eels which had not
. been caught and retained under the authority of a licence

issued for the pUrpose of commercial fishing or such
other licence as provided· for in section: 35(2) of the
Fishery (General). Regulations, . thereby contravening
Section 35(2) of the said Regulations, and did thereby
commit an offence contrary to s; 78(a) of the Fisheries
Act.
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At issue here is whether the Defendant, being a status Mi'kmaq Indian, has

a right, under treaty,to fish and sell fish and, as a consequence, whether he should

be acquitted on these charges.

I have included relevant legislative provisions in Appendi!2 which forms

part of this judgment. (See p. 46.)

Summary of Facts and Submissions

The actions of the Defendant on August 24th, 1993, in relation to the three

counts before me, are not in dispute. An Agreed Statement of Facts was filed with

the Court. In that Agreed Statement, the Crown and Defence:

...for the purposes of this case only, agree
that the following statement of facts shall be taken as
true, provided each party shall be at liberty to supplement
but not contradict these facts by other relevant evidence.

1. On August 24, 1993, at around 10 o'clock in the
morning, the Defendant Donald John Marshall
("Marshall") and another person fished for eels by means
of fykenets, a type of fixed net, from a small outboard
motor boat in Pomquet HarboUr, County of Antigonish,
Province of Nova Scotia. For part of the morning
Marshall pulled the nets and emptied the eels into the
boat while the other person operated the outboard motor,
and for part· of the morning the other person pulled the
nets and emptied the eels into the boat while Marshall ran
the outboard motor. Marshall and the other person
transferred the eels from the boat to a holding pen.



2. Marshall is an aboriginal person, being a status
Mi'kmaq' Indiail' registered wider the provisions of the
Indian Act (Canada), and is a member of the. Membertou
Band. The Membertou Band is an Indian baild under the
Indian Act (Canada), whose Reserve Lands are situate at
or near Sydney, Nova Scotia.

3. At about 1:10 P.M. on the 24th of August, 1993,.4\nd
at or near Pomquet Harbour Marshall and another person
brought their eels from the holding pens. ashore at the
location where they kept their boats. This location is
situate on lands which are part of the A~on Indian
Reserve, at Antigonish County. Marshall helped weigh
and load his eels onto a truck belonging to South Shore
Trading Company 'L~mited ("South Shore") of Port Elgin,
New Brunswick. Squth Shore is engaged in the purchase
and sale of fish. Marshall sold 463 pounds of his eels to
South Shore at $1.70 per pound.

4. Marshall had on previous occasions in the same year
sold eels to South Shore. .

5. Marshall did not at any time hold a license (within the
meaning of S. 4(1)(a) of the Maritime Province Fishery
Regulations and S. 35(2) of the Fishery (General)
Regulations) with respect to fishing for or selling eels
from Pomquet Harbour..

6. August 24, 1993, Was within closed times (within the
meaning S. 20 of the Maritime Provinces Fishery
Regulations) for fishing eels at PomquetHarbour.
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Lengthy oral and written submissions have been made by the Crown and I
Defence setting out their positions and arguments on the issues as they see them .

and it is those full submissions to which I have referred when assessing the merits I
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of the arguments placed before me. llowever, at this point I will attempt to briefly

summarize the positions put forwaro by the Crown and Defence on the principal

issues arising in this case.

It is submitted, on behalf of the Defendant, that a series of treaties entered

into between the British and the Mi'kmaq ofNova Scotia in 1760 and 1761 are the

operative treaties for determining the relevant rights of the DefeneJe.nt in this case.

It is submitted that the Treaties of 1760-61,possess a trade clause which gives thee::-:'--l

Defendant the right to fiSh and to sell the fish. These treaties should be readin~

the context of a chain of treaties from 1725 to 1779. That context, along with ~'/

certain subsequent events which~larify the 1760-61 Treaty promise respecting .,,(.-
trade, confirms the understanding that the Mi'kmaq had free liberty to trade,

~thout restriction. The Mi'kmaq' did notilgreein the 1760-61 Treaties or-
otherwise that their rights to fish'and sell fish were subject to unilateral regulation

by the Crown. However, whether the ,Mi'kmaq agreed through the Treaties of

1760~61 to be regulated in their fishing and trading activities or not, the legal test

and analysis to be applied by this Court is the same and the regulation of the

Defendant's fishing and trading activities that the crown seeks to applyhere must

be justified by the Crown. I am referred to Sparrow v. Ro, [1990] I S.C.R. 1075

and other judgments that have interpreted and applied Section 35(1) of the

Constitution Act, 1982.

As just stated, part ofthe Defence submission here is that the Defendant has,

under treaty, the right to fish and the right to sell the fish. For the purposes of this

case, those words "the right to fish and the right to sell the fish" are meant to be

read together. This is not a case about ''the right to fish", standing alone.

This is the position taken by the Crown. The operative treaties for defining

the treaty relationship between the Mi'kmaq and the Crown are the series oftreaties

, ,
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entered into in Nova Scotia in 1760-61. Those treaties do not grant any

'commercial fishing tights to theMi'kmaq. If the Court determines that there is an

implied right to commercial fishing in these treaties, then that right was subject to

regulation ab initio. Any commercial fishing right conveyed by these treaties to

the Mi'kmaq is not infringed by the regulations here because the Crown's ability to

regulate is inherent in anyright that was conveyed. Further, ifthefourt concludes

that a treaty right to a commercial fishery by the Mi'kmaq exists, that right is

subject to the Crown's right to regulate the fishery and the Crown does not have

to justify such regulation. Section 35(1) of the Constitution Act, 1982 does

nothing to change any of this.

Section 35(1), Constitution Act, 1981

Section 35(1) of the Constitution Act, 1982 is found in the Part entitled

"Rights of the Aboriginal Peoples of Canada" and states:

35(1) The existing aboriginal and treaty rights of
the aboriginal peoples of Canada are hereby recognized
and affirmed. .. .

That section constitutionally protects those aboriginal and treaty rights that were in

existence when the Constitution' Act, 1982 came into effect. The Supreme Court

of Canada in Sparrow, supra, at p. 1108, poh1.ts to a "general guiding principle

for s. 35(1)" which·is that:

.The Government has the. responsibility to act in a
fiduciary capacity with respect.to aboriginal peoples. The
relationship between the Government andaboriginals is
trustlike, ratherthanadversarial,and .contemporary
recognition and affirmation of aboriginal rights must be
defmed in light of this historic relationship.
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'" my Vi";;, those WonJ,. apply eqoally to any rights _veyod by treaty{f,r~~ tis..
'. The' bnrl1etrOftlembdSffit'fihg'tIi~"6Xistence'of1lltteatyjri:ghtrprotectedundePr~

Section 35(1), rests with the Defendant Likewise, the Defendant bears the burden .

of proving that there has been a prima facie infringement of that right. The

Crown bears the burden of justifying any such infringement of the treaty right.

/.. /

The Trial

The trial in this matter has taken forty days, spread out over the last nineteen

months. The transcript ofthe testimony and argument spans more than 5800 pages.

Copies of over four hundred documents were tendered. I want to thank' Counsel

for the professional and courteous manner in which they conducted themselves. .

during the course of this trial and for the thorough and effective presentation of

their respective cases.

I heard testimony from thtee witnesses. The Crown called Stephen Everett

Patterson, a Professor of History at the University of New Brunswick as its only

witness. John Graham Reid, a Professor of History at St. Mary's UniverSity and
. ".

William Craig Wicken, a researcherlhistorian with the Aboriginal Title Project both
. , .

testified in the case for the Defence.. (The Aboriginal Title Project is a joint project

of the Union ofNova Scotia Iildians and the Confederacy ofMainland Mi'kmaqs.

As a result of that employment, William Wicken received a research associateship

at the Oorsebrook Research Institute at St. Mary's University.) All three witnesses

have earned a Ph.D. degree and two are Professors: Counsel addressed these

witnesses as "Professor" Patterson, "Dr." Reid and "Dr." Wicken so I will refer to

these witnesses in the same manner as both counsel have.

Professor Patterson was ruled to be an expert witness, capable ofexpressing

his opinion as an historian on the subjects of British Colonial' administration in
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North America, British Colonial development in North America, British Colonial

Indian policy including British-Indian relations (treaty and otherwise) in Colonial

New England and Nova Scotia.. The term "Colordal" was defined by Professor

Patterson as the time frame commencing with the first British settlements in

Virginia in 1607 and extending to 1776 inthe case of New England and 1867 in

terms of Nova Scotia.
. ~

Dr. Reid was also found tQ be an expert historian. He was ruled capable of

giving opinion evidence in relation to northeastern North America in the 17th and

18th centuries on the topics of British, Scottish and French Imperial relations with

the colonies, colonization of the area by Europeans, the native peoples inhabiting .

this area and the relationships between the Europeans and the native peoples. He

was also qualified as an expert in the translation of French into English and the

interpretation of documents found originally in the French language.

Dr. Wicken was declared'to be an expert ethno-historian. He testified at

length explaining ethno-history but it can be summarized as a combination of

anthropology and history andutUizing the approaches of both these disciplines to

study the interaction betwe~n' cultutally diverse peoples over time. His expertise

was found to cover Northeastern'North America in the years from 1500 to 1800 as

well as that time frame referred to 11S the immediate pre-contact period. "Contact"

refers to contact between Europeans and North American natives which is genetally

accepted to have first occurred ~1ind the year 1500. Dr. Wicken defined the

immediatepre-contact period'as commencing up to 900 years before 1950. Within

these parameters, Dr. Wicken Was ruled capable of giving opinion evidence as an

ethno-historian on the subjects ofnative peoples, the relationship ofnative peoples

with Europeans, colonization by Europeans and the imperial relations between

European nations and their colonies. Dr. Wicken was also found qualified to

,
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provide English translation for, and interpretation of, 17th and 18th century French

documents.

From the outset of this trial, Crown and Defence counsel understood and

acknowledged that the Defendant bears the burden of demonstrating the existence .

of any treatY right on which he may wish to rely. It bas been the Defendant's

position throughout that he has a treaty right to fish and sell fisl.as he did here.

At the commencement of the trial, Defence counsel submitted that the Defendant

would be relying on the Treaty of 1752 as authority for his claim to a treaty right

to fish and sell fish. Defence counsel also expressed his intention to present

evidence in support ora claim to an aboriginal right to engage in the trading of

fish. The Defence bad informed the Crown of its position prior to the trial.

The Crown elected to call Professor Patterson as part of its case. It Was the .

Crown's submission throughout that the operative treaties for determining any

relevant fishing rights of the Defendant were the Treaties of 1760-61. Professor

Patterson's testimony included extensive testimony about the numerous treaties

entered into between the British and the Mi'kmaq and Maliseet in the Maritime

Provinces between 1725 and 1779, along with the historical context and his

opinions of the historical context, throughout this period.

At the opening of the case for the Defence, the Defendant abandoned his

reliance on the Treaty of 1752 and any aboriginal rights to engage in trade which .

he had earlier claimed. Defence· counsel requested that I make any determination

of the Defendant's rights in this case on the basis of the 1760~61 Treaties~ The

Defence suggested that those treaties provided the Defendant with the necessary

rights to engage in the fishing and selling of fish that he was engaged in here.

The principle focus ofDr. Reid's testimony was therelatlonship between the
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British and the aboriginal peoples of the Massachusetts Bay colony (now present

day New England) during the 17th and early 18th centuries. His testimony.

concentrated on those peoples native to the area ofpresent day Maine encompassed

by the Penobscot and Saco Rivers who are called the Abenaki, and their

relationship, both treaty-making.and otherwise, with the British during the period

of 1690 to 1725. In Dr. Reid's opinion, the treaty- making relation~ip between the

Mi'kmaq and the British in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick duriJ:I.g the 18th

century was "an outgrowth from ora continuation of..." the earlier British-Abenaki

relationship and that it would not be possible to have a fully accurate understanding· ..

of the Mi'kmaq-Britishtreaty-making process without understanding the British­

Abenaki relationship that preceded it.

Dr. Wicken's testimony focused on the Mi'kniaqpeople aildtheir relationship,

treaty-making. and othel'\\'ise,witb the British intheJ8thcentuIy0His testimony

also dealt with broader issues of aboriginal society in northeastern North America

and with aspects of Mi'kmaq society before and afterthe 18th century.

In determining that these threewitnellses qualified as experts,capable of

giving opinion evidence, I followed the legal c~nsiderations set fortldn Rv.

Abbey, [1982]2 S.C.R. 24, R. v.Lavallee, [1990]1 S.C.R. 852 and R. v. Mohan,

[1994]2 S.C.R.9. Each of these witnesses provided various opinions based on

historical facts, documents presented in evidence -and information which each

acquired in the course ofacting within his .area of expertise. The testimony of an

expert witness is to be. assessed by me like that of any other witness. I can accePt

all of theLWitness' testimony, part of.it or none of it It is for me to assess the

weight to be given to any opinions expressed. In assessing the weight any witness'

opinions deserve, I would, of course, include among my considerations the extent

or degree of the witness' qualifications and the factual bases of any opinions.
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A large number of documentary exhibits are before me here. All ofthem are

copies. Those copies fall into various categories. Some are ·photocopies of

originals; some are photocopies taken from microfiche; some are typescriptcopies

created by, or on behalf of, the witnesses before me; some are in printed form and

taken from published sources; some have been translated into English by a witness

in this matter or another person; some may fall into a category 'Y!!ich I have not

described. I accept as reliable all of the copies and translations of the historical .

documents tendered as exhibits before me, to the extent that each is complete and

legible. (By using the word reliable, I mean that I am satisfied asto the sufficient

accuracy of the copy or the translation as the case may be. I am not saying, at this

stage, that the original of any of these documents is reliable for any purpose. This

is particularly true for those small nun'iber of documents where variations occur

between different "copies" of, allegedly, .the same original document.) All the

documentary exhibits are admissible and properly before me.

Review of Historical Background

The evidence reveals that the British entered into treaties with Mi'kinaq

villages throughout Nova Scotia during 1760 and 1761. The Defendant here

submits that these are the operative treaties for detennining his rights in the

.circumstances of this Case.

A lot of evidence was presented to me by both the Crown and Defence

dealing with the history of Nova Scotia and New England in the 17th and 18th

centuries as it relates to the Mi'kmaq, theAbenald, the British and the French, their

cul~s, their actions and their interactions. I will not be making specific

comments on much of that evidence, although I have considered all of it. A lot of

the·documents and testimony was presented to help place the particular historical
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events and actions of greater significance here in their proper context. Before

considering and interpreting the treaties and treaty provisions. being'relied on here,

I am going to review, at some length, relevant aspects ofthe history and events that

pre-dated and post-dated the Treaties of 1760 and 1761.

The first contact between Mi'kmaq and Europeans occurred in the very early
L

years of the 16th century. At this time, the territory inhabited by the Mi'kmaq

included all of present day Nova Scotia, Prince Edward Island, the Eastern Coast

ofNew Brunswick up to the area of the Restigouche River, the Magdalene Islands,

Ste. Pierr~-Miquelon and possibly the south coast of Newfoundland.

Traditionally, communication in Mi'kmaq society has only been oral. No

written records of Mi'kmaq history have ever been located. One has to look to

archeology, anthropology, written records ofEuropeans who have had contact with

the Mi'kmaq, the oral history and folklore of the Mi'kmaq, and other sources to

study Mi'kmaq history.

At first contact, the Mi'kmaq .were a hunting, fishing and gathering people.

They lived in villages along the coast for most ofthe year and moved inland during

the harsher periods of winter. They settled mostly along river systems.

There were vast differences between Mi'kmaq society and culture and that

of the Europeans who came to these shores. Generally, traditional Mi'kmaq society

functioned consensually and in a non-coercive nature. European notions of

·government, sovereignty and authority,are not part of this model. Usually, among

the leaders ofa Mi'kmaq village would be a "Sakamow" whom historians also refer

· to' as a "Chief". A Sakamow was an individual who, through inheritance or

achievement, had gained influence within the village. A Sakamow did not have the

· ability to demand acceptance ofhis decisions. However, because ofhis influence,

1
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his word was more likely to carry weight in the consensuai decision-making

process ofthe community. (The history oftreaty-making between the Mi'kmaq and

the British offers us one illustration of how the political framework of Mi'kmaq

society operated.)

The earliest European visitors here were fishermen who came to the Grand

Banks and stopped along the coastline of the present day Maritime flovinces at any

number of possible locations. With this contact, came early forms of trading and

by 1534, when Jacques Cartier landed in the Bay de Chaleurs in New Brunswick,

at least some Mi'kmaq were used to seeing and trading with Europeans.

Approximately a hundred years passed before any real efforts were made by

Etiropeans at establishing permanent settlements in what was then called Acadia.

The French made two efforts to settle at Port Royal early in the 17th century and

French exploration of the coast resulted in the establishment of some very small

trading posts, principally in the area from Cape Sable to Port Royal. A Scottish

settlement was established at Port Royal in 1629 and surrendered back to the

French in 1632.

In 1654 British from Massachusetts desiroyed Port Royal and the British

began establishing trading posts. However, control of Acadia again returned to

France by treaty in 1667. A more stable relationship began to form between the

French and the Mi'kmaq thereafter.

:By the second half of the 17th century there are urimistakable sip that

. contactwith EtirOpeans and their presence in Nova Scotia was having an impact on

the life and affairs ofthe Mi'kmaq. European diseases had aJ.ri:ady had a dran1atic

impact, although not to the devastating extent that they did in some other North

American aboriginal societies; The development and entrenchment of trade

between the Mi'kmaq and the French and British·definitely made an impact on
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Mi'kmaq life. Pursuing the fur trade meant the Mi'kmaq had to acquire more furs

than they would normally utilize for thelt).selves. In exchange for furs, the Mi'kmaq

received, among other things, tools and weapons produced by European technology.

The introduction of firearms to the Mi'kmaq created the need for powder and shot.

Trade also brought liquor and associated concemsabout its use in the trading

process. The establishment of French settlements brought priestszho introduced

Christianity to the Mi'kmaq. Efforts by the French to make the Mi'kmaq allies in

any disputes with the British resulted in some Mi'kmaq settlements being

. established close to French communities.

As the 17th century progressed, the French Acadian population of the

Annapolis Valley expanded and. additional settlements arose at Chignecto (near

Amherst), on the Minas Basin, at Cobequid (Truro) and Piziquid (Windsor). By

the early 18th century, the Acadian population numbered approximately 2000. A

small, transitory European population existed on the Atlantic coast from Cape Sable

northeastward to Chezzetcook.

England and France were at war between 1701 and 1713. The Treaty of

Utrecht in 1713, ceded Acadia, accordingto its "ancient boundaries", to the British I
and ,this became Nova Scotia and a Royal Colony. That left the French on Isle

Royale (CapeBreton) and Isle St. Jean (prince Edward Island). It was at this point I
that the French constructed their fortress at Louisbourg.

The British thereafter maintained their headquarters at Annapolis Royal until I
1749. The British population at Annapolis Royal probably didn't exceed 350 . I
during this period and most of those were soldiers. The British also had a small

garrison at Canso between 1720 and 1744 when it was destroyed by the French. I
Canso became the principal landing area for New England fishermen who would

'. come ashore to dry. their catch. As many as 1100 could be found in the area of I

I
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Canso during the early 1730's. The total, permanent, British population of Nova

Scotiil.before the founding of Halifax was less than 1000: .

As a hunting, fishing and gathering people, the Mi'kmaq population Was

spread out and scattered through their territory in the pre-contact period. Dr.

Wicken discussed in his testimony population estimates for the Mi'kmaq in the .

immediate pre-contact period. He concluded that a population es~ate of 10,000

was the more reasonable of the suggestions considered. The accuracy of this is

difficult to assess.

In the 17th and early 18th centuries, there were approximately 16 major

Mi'kmaq villages in Nova Scotia and New Brunswick, Dr. Wicken concluded.

NeveJtheless, he considered it very difficult to evaluate the Mi'kmaq population in

the mid 18th cenfury. Professor Patterson expressed the view that the total

aboriginal population in the region by 1750 was, at most, 3000: That estimate was

made up of 2000 Mi'kmaq and 1000 Maliseet and Passamaquody. Other evidence

before me suggests that those figures do constitute a reasonably accurate estimate.

Evidence·was presented about the· treaty-making process engaged in by the

British in Massachusetts Bay with the Abenaki. of noJthern New England

commencing in the 1690's. Significant treaties were entered into in 1693, 1699,

1701, 1713 and 1717. In the early 1690's, the Abenaki were allied with the French.

The treaty in 1693 and the renewal in 1699 were attempts at ending periods of

open warfare between the British and the Abenaki. Hostilities continued,

intermittently, leading up to the agreement in 1713. In addition to achieving peace,

trade was also a significant concern to both sides and is included in discussions and

the treaties themselves. The British were intent on using trade as a means of

securing peaCe· when their· ability to control· the situation, militarily, was .
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questionable.

With Nova Scotia becoming a British colony in 1713, officials from Nova

Scotia were involved in some treaty discussions in New England. The Mi'kmaq

were allies of the Abenaki and would have been aware of the state of affairs

existing in New England between the Abenaki and the British.

Relations between the British and the Abenaki in the Mlfsachusetts Bay

colony again deteriorated in the early 1720's. In 1721, many Abenaki leaders

declared all previous treaties with the British null and void.

The history of treaty-making between the British and the Mi'kmaq in Nova

Scotia commences in the 1720's. Hostilities between the Mi'kmaq and the British

were occurring in Nova Scotia at this time. The Mi'kmaq had seized several ships

off the coast and Lieutenant Governor"Doucette had imprisoned some Mi'kmaqs

from the Annapolis Royal area. There appears in Ii Massachusetts paper, the New

England Courant of December 31, 1722 - January 7,1723, a published report of a

"Declaration ofWar" against the Mi'kmaq issued by Governor Phillips at Canso on

August 1st, 1722. The Declaration proclaims the Mi'kmaq to be "enemies to His

Majesty· King George...". Imniediately following this in the same edition of the

Courant is the text of a peace treaty between the British and certain Mi'kmaq

dignitaries, purportedly signed at Annapolis Royal on November 12, 1722. The

Declaration had made mention of earlier acts of submission and promises of

friendship entered into in the summerof 1722. No other record ofthese documents

exists and, as far as can be determined, this 1722 Treaty was never forwarded to

the usual authorities in London, England.

The fIrst treaty between the British in Nova. Scotia and the Mi'kmaq,of

which we have a reliable copy, was entered into as a result of discussions in 1725

and 1726. Treaty discussions were held in Boston in December, 1725. Major Paul

I
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Mascarene was appointed by the Lieutenant Govenior ofNova Scotia to act as his

representative. < Representatives of Massachusetts Bay and New Hampshire

represented the British in New England and aboriginal participants included

delegates from the Abenaki, the Maliseet and the Mi'kmaq. Agreements were

reached which were to be subsequently ratified by the appropriate signatories at a

later date in both Massachusetts Bay and Nova Scotia. The Articl~of Submission

and Agreement made at Boston on December 15, 1725, affecting the Maliseet and

the Mi'kmaq, which were ratified at Annapolis Royal on June 4th, 1726 are

enclosed with this decision as Appendix II. (See p. 49.) The ratification forms

Appendix m. (See p. 51.) The signatories on this ratification represent most.

known Mi'kmaq villages, including one from Cape Breton, even though Cape

Breton was still under French controL Further ratifications of this treatyoceurred

with more representatives of the Maliseet at Annapolis Royal in May and

September of 1728.

.It appears that the path of negotiation taken by the British in New England
. . . ,

with the aboriginal groups there diverged from that taken in Nova Scotia after

1725.

There were still intermittent hostilities between the Mi'kmaq and the British

in Nova Scotia after the J 726 Treaty through the early 1740s. The extent of those

hostilities is not clear and there are some rilaterialsmissing from the arcbival record

for this period. It is clear that the French, from their base in Cape Breton, were

using their best efforts to discourage peace between the Mi'kmaq and the British..

they continued to give gifts to foster their relationship with the Mi'kmaq as best

they could. The British, too, recognized the benefits of bestowing gifts and did so

whenever London could be persuaded to expend the necessary funds.

The British were still not experienced at dealing with the Mi'kmaq and
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frequently used Acadian "deputies" as intermediaries. The Acadians and the'

Mi'kmaq, generally, had a friendly relationship and the Mi'kmaq would have

acquired considerable knowledge from the Acadians about Europeans and their

customs.

Meetings and conferences were held over this period between the British and

the Mi'kmaq and the terms of the 1726 Treaty were pointed to 2' both sides in

certain circumstances where disputes needed to be settled.

The Mi'kmaq were constantly engaged in trade during this period with the

French, the British and with any vessels that happened along the coast. New

England traders were among those frequently dealing with the Mi'kmaq.

The War of the Austrian Succession embroiled England and France in more

,conflict with each other between 1744 and 1748. In 1745, a British expeditionary

force from New England captured Louisbourg and the British were consequently

in control of Cape Breton until it was given back to the French in 1748 by the

Treaty of Aix-Ia-Chapelle. During this period, the Mi'kmaq of Nova Scotia were

largely sympathetic to the French and offered substantial assistance.

The return of Louisbourg to the French caused the British to have certain

secutity concerns for their colonies in northeastern North America. Asa

consequence, in 1749, Halifax was founded when General and Governor Edward

Cornwallis arrived there with troups and 2400 settlers. Halifax immediately

became the new capital of Nova Scotia. This was the beginning of the extensive

British settlement of the Province.

The official end of hostilities between France and England in 1748 did not

bring to a close hostilities between the Mi'kmaq and British in Nova Scotia. By

the fall of 1749, various attacks on British subjects prompted the new Governor to

issue a Proclamation authorizing the military and all British subjects to kill or
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capture any Mi'kmaq found, and offering a reward. However, representatives of

the Maliseetand the Sagamow of the Chignecto Mi'kmaq did come to Halifax in

the summer of 1749 to renew the Treaty of 1726. A further renewal ceremony was

held with a larger representation of the Maliseet at the mouth of the Saint John

River on September 4, 1749.

Professor Patterson describes what followed in the y~ars ~ediate1y after

the Proclamation of 1749 as a British-Mi'kmaq war. The British believed that

French missionaries were contributing to the unrest with the Mi'kmaq. While small

in number, it is clear that the missIonaries were travelling throughout Nova Scotia

and that they could, and did, on special religious occasions, assemble three to five

hundred Mi'kmaq together in one spot to listen to their teachings.

After several months without hostilities in late 1751 and early 1752, .

Governor Cornwallis revoked his 1749 Proclamation and prohibited any aggression

against the Mi'kmaq. Cornwallis was succeeded as Governor of Nova Scotia by

Peregrine Thomas Hopson in 1752.

After some discussions in the autumn, a Treaty ofPeace and Friendship was

entered into by the British with the ShubenaCadie Mi'kmaq on November 22,1752.

The Sakamow ofthe Shubenacadie Mi'kmaq was JeanBaptiste Cope and he signed

the treaty along with three other Mi'kmaq. A copy of the treaty is attached as

Appendix IV. (See p. 54.) This treaty has been the subject ofother litigation, most

notably R. v. Simon, [1985] 2 S.C;R. 387. Among ()ther things, this treaty renews

and confirms the earlier treaty ratified at Annapolis Royal in June, 1726.

.The Shubenacadie Mi'kmaq were a group consisting ofapproximately ninety

persons living lllong the Eastern Shore in Nova Scotia in 1752. The British knew

that this was one treaty with a small village of Mi'kmaq but hoped that it would

have the effect of bringing other Mi'kmaq groups forward to renew and ratify the

. ," .
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peace. Cope had undertaken to propose this to other Sakamows.

From the British perspective, the 1752 Treaty.did not have the desired.affect.

The British began to realize that other Mi'kmaq would not be coming forward to

enter agreements of peace and friendship and they saw th~t this brief period of

peace was collapsing. Other hostilities between the British and. the Mi'kmaq

occurred such that by July, 1753, Governor Hopson was referring~ "...the almost

continual war we have with the Indians...".

:. 'It appears that some groups ofMi'kmaq, notably those in Cape Breton, were

upset that Cope entered into his treaty with the British and indeed it seems that

Cope himselfparticipated in an attack on British citizens travelling in a sloop to the

Eastern Shore in 1753.

The British,at this time, considered that they had only barely enough troops

to protect the civilian population.' They considered that the French were the real

instigators of these hostilities with the Mi'kmaq.

By the mid 1750's, the French Acadian population, of Nova Scotia, was

approaching 15,000. The European (mostly French) population ofIsle Royale was

over 4000 and ofIsle St. Jean was over 2000 in that same period In 1753, over

1400-0erman settlers landed at Lunenburg.

While G:reat Britain and France were not at war after the Treaty of Aix-la­

Chapelle in 1748, there was a dispute between the two about the location of(or the

existence of) a border between whatthe French still considered to be their telritory

and whatthe British considered was rightfully theirs ·and part ofNova Scotia. This

apparently stems from the words used in the Treaty of Utrecht in 1713 which gave

to Great Britain "...all Nova Scotia or Acadia, with its ancient boundaries...". The

.French were arguing that Acadia, according to its ancient boundaries was a much

1
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more confined space than the British thought and, to put it simply, that present day

New Brunswick was still French territory.. A boundary commission sat for five

years and did not resolve the issue before a military resolution occurred. The

French established a fort at the Isthmus of Chignecto which they named

Beausejour. The British responded by establishing Fort Lawrence nearby.

War broke out again in 1754 between France and Britain (~}eastin North

America) and the British sent additional troops· to Nova Scotia. The British

attacked Fort Beausejour and, after a battle, the Fort was surrendered by the French

. in June, 1755. (A broader conflict, the Seven Years War,from 1756-63 continued

to embroil Britain and France.)

The British perceived the Acadian population as being allied with and

assisting the French and the Mi'kmaq. 1155 saw the beginning of the expulsion of

the Acadians from Nova Scotia.

While at least two groups ofMi'kmaq approached the British between 1753

and 1755 expressing intentions of peace and the British appear to have still been .

interested in pursuing such peaceful relations, events surrounding the latest war

with France overtook everything else in Nova SCotia and 1755-58 brought a period

ofrenewed hostilities. Governor Lawrence,· who took over from Governor Hopson

in the fall of 1753, issued a Proclamation on May 14, 1756 authorizing the killing

and captu1ing of Mi'kmaq throughout Nova Scotia and offering rewards.

Intermittent skirmishes between British settlers and troops on the one side

and Mi'kmaq and remaining Acadians on the other continued to occur with losses

being suffered on both sides. Substantial quantities of food were being supplied

to the Mi'kmaq from Louisbourg and the French were relyitig on Mi'kmaq

assistance in almost every aspect of their ·militarypIans including scouting and

reconnaissance, . imdguarding the· Cape Breton coast line.
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Louisboug was attacked and taken by the British in June, 1758. The British

had Ii much superior force and overwhelmed the French. While Mi'kmaq"were "

present on the side of the French, their role and numbers do not appear to have

been significant.

The fall of Louisbourg brought an end to the French presence in the region.

Cape Breton and Isle St. Jean were surrendered by the French to the British. Even
.L "

after the fall of Louisbourg, some Mi'kmaq continued hostilities with the British

into 1759.

The British continued their pursuit ofthe French in North America. In 1759,

Quebec was captured by the British and in the summer of 1760, Montreal fell.

From 1713 until 1758, Nova Scotia was governed by a Governor (and a

Lieutenant Governor if the Governor did not reside in the Colony) and a Council

appointed by him with authority to advise him. The Governor and Council made

the laws and, after 1719, had authority to treat with aboriginal peoples. In 1758,

Nova Scotia added a Legislature to its governing process. The Legislature,

thereafter, made the laws which were then sent to the Council and then the

"Governor for approval. From there, any laws were sent to London for approval by

the'King. They were valid in the interim" but could be disallowed if the King so

ordered. The Governor, re~ed the authority to negotiate treaties with the

aboriginals after 1758 and approval by the Legislature of such treaties was not

necessary. "

During 1760 and 1761, various representatives ofthe Maliseet and Mi'kmaq

came to Halifax and entered into treaties with the British Governor or Lieutenant

Governor. The first treaty; dated February 23, 1760, was with the Maliseet and

Passamaquody. It is included here as Appendix V. (See p. 57.) This treaty

contains and confirms the Articles of Submission and Agreemellt entered into in

-... "
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Boston in 1725 and the subsequent articles entered into in Halifax in 1749 and

ratified later that year at the mouth of the Saint John River. It also acknowledges

that those previous articles had been violated. By this treaty, the Maliseet agreed

to "traffic and barter and exchange commodities" only at government truckhouses

unless given permission to trade at some other place. The Governor in Council and .

the Maliseet Sakamows had, the week before, agreed to a valualon of various

animal skins for the purpose of trading at truckhouses. A truckhouse was

subsequently established at the mouth of the Saint John River for trade with the

Maliseet.

On'February 29, 1760, Paul Laurent,Sakamow of the Mi'kmaq at LaHave

and Michel Augustine, Sakamow ofthe M:i'kmaq at Richibouctou appeared before

the Govemor and Council to conclude a'treaty of peace. The treaty made with the

Maliseet earlier that month was communicated to them. They expressed satisfaction

with it and declared that all of the Mi'kmaq would be prepared to make peace on

those conditions. The British realized that it would be difficult to arrange for all

ofthe Mi'kmaq representatives to attend at Halifax at one time and therefore it was

.resolved to present a separate treaty to each. Sakamow ashe arrived. It was

anticipated that a general treaty would be made and a signing ceremony for all

would be held at Fort Cumberland on a later occasion. There is no indication that

this ever happened. '
. .

Paul Laurent entered into ,a treaty, onbeh~ofthe LaHavevillage, on March

10th, 1760. Michel Augustine and ClaudeRene (Sakamow of the Shubenacadie

and Musquodoboit Mi'kmaq) entered treaties at the same time. The treaty signed

by Paul Laurent is included here as Appendix VI. (See p. 62.) By the end of 1761,

it seems that all Mi'kmaq in Nova Scotia had entered into separate but similar

treaties. Copies of some of those treaties have not been located and there may be .
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minor variations between some existing treaties because of errors made in

transcribing copies. Nevertheless, I am satisfied that all of these Mi'kmaq treaties

were materially the same.

The Mi'kmaq treaties, as written and signed, do not renew, or even make
•

mention of, any previous treaties. Each one of the Mi'kmaq treaties contains a trade

clause wherein each Mi'kmaq signatory agrees on behalf of his vi~ge as follows:

"And I do further engage that we will
not traffick, barter or exchange any
commodities in any manner but with such
persons or the managers of such truck
houses as shall be appointed or established

.by His Majesty's Governor at [insert location
of closest truck house] or elsewhere in Nova
Scotia or Accadia." ,

I am convinced that the price list for the truck houses negotiated with the Maliseet

and Passamaquody was accepted by all as applicable to the trade clause in the

Mi'kmaq treaties.

On March 21st, 1760, the Nova Scotia House ofAssembly, the Governor and

.Council passed into law "An Act to Prevent Any Private Trade or Commerce

with the Indians" which said in part:

Whereas Articles of peace have been
concluded by and between His Excellency
the Governor in (sic) behalf of His Majesty
and the IildiiUl Delegates from the Tribes of
St. John's River, Passamaquodie in the Bay·
of Fundi and part of the Tribes of the
Mickmacks, whereby said Tribes have
obliged themselves not to trade with any
person or persons whatsoever but such as
shall be appointed Truck masters or
Licenced for that purpose by the Governor
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·u Governor or Commander in Chief of the .
province for the time being.

And for the better and more effectual
carrying on a Trade and Commerce with the
said Indians according to the said Articles:
and to prev~nt private persons from carrying
on any separate Trade Commerce or
Dealings whatsoev~r with the said Indians. .a...

Be it Enacted by His Excellency the
Governor Council and assembly, and by the
authority of the same it is hereby Enacted
that from and after the 21st day of May
1760, no person or persons whatsoever other

. than such as shall be appointed Trockmasters
by His Excellency the.Governor Lt Governor
or other Commander in Chief for the time
being; or persons Licenced by them or
Either, of them· for that purpose, shall, or
may presume by themselves Or aily others
for them directly or indirectly to buy, sell,
Truck, Barter, Exchange, Give or receive in
Gift, any kind of Provisions, Goods or
Merchandize whatsoever, to or from any of
the aforesd Indians, or to or from. any person
or persons in their name or for their account
on the penalty of forfeiting the sum of Fifty
pounds Stirling for each and every offence
and also the Commodities so clandestinly
[sic] bought or Bartet'd for."

This Bill was to be in force for a period of two years but a further Act ofthe

Assembly, passed in September of 1760, removed the two year limitation and made

the earlier Act "perpetual". The Board of Trade in London was not pleased with



the passage of thes·e Acts because they were considered to create an imprope\

restraint of trade and caused an unreasonable expense to belevied on the treasury.

In July, 1761, the King ordered the repeal of these Acts, as he had the power to

do.

A system of truckhouses did exist, as envisaged by these treaties and the

legislation, and it continued to function for a short time·after the Acts were. .. .,",-

repealed. Six truckhouses were set up. Three remained open for approximately a

year and were closed in 1761 and the remaining three were closed in the spring of

1762. The Nova Scotia Government lost a substantial sum of money from the

operation of these truckhouses.

The Government of Nova Scotia, in the early 1760's, understood the

importance of trade as a means of helping to maintain peaceful relations with the

Mi'kmaq. Upon the dissolution ofthetruckhouse system, the Government sought

to create a system of licensed traders who would be the ones permitted to trade

with the Mi'kmaq. It was hoped that this would eliminate the possibility of the

Mi'km.aq becoming victims ofunscrupulous traders overwhom the Government had

no control.

There is evidence that licenses were issued to traders over the next twenty

years or so. Security had to be posted to obtain such a license and in 1770 there

. is·evidence that the amount required was 1,000 pounds.

Governor Lawrence died on :October 19, 1760. He was succeeded by

Governor· Ellis but Ellis never came to Nova Scotia. The Governor's duties in

Nova Scotia were performed by Lieutenant Governor Jonathan Belcher who had

been President of the Council and Chief Justice of Nova Scotia. Governor Ellis

was succeeded in 1763 by Governor Wilmot at which point Belcher reverted to his

two previous positions.
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After the Treaty of Paris in 1763 and the Royal Proclamation of 1763, Isle

Royale and Isle St. Jean came under the jurisdiction of the Government of Nova

Scotia, which by that time also included present day New Brunswick.

Under a "Plan for the Future Management ofIndian Affairs" released by the

British Board of Trade in 1764, the British Colonies in North America were

divided into two districts for the "better regulation" of "trade and pommerce with
. ~ .

the several Tribes of Indians in North America, under the Protection of His

Majesty". The Mi'kmaq and Maliseet of Nova Scotia fell within the Northern

District; Both the Northern and the Southern Districts had a superintendent with

various deputies.

The last treaty of any apparent relevance to the issues here was entered into

at Windsor, Nova Scotia on September 22, 1779. It is included here as Appendix

vn. (See p. 64.) This was a treaty between all of the Mi'kmaq villages in what

is now New Brunswick and the British as represented by Michael Francklin who

was Superintendent of Indian Affairs. for. Nova Scotia (as a deputy of the

Superintendent of Indian Affairs for the Northern District). This treaty arose out

of certain shifts in loyalties by groups of Mi'kmaq and Maliseet to the American

side during the American Revolution. In 1779, one village of Mi'knlaq in the

Miramichi region openly became rebels against the British; A British vessel, the

"Viper" was sent to the Miramichi and some of the Mi'kmaqinvolved were

arreste~. Thereafter, this treaty was entered into renewing the peace. This is,

probably, the last formal treaty entered into by the Mi'kmaq with British authorities

in Nova Scotia or New Brunswick. (There Were agreements concerning land and

the granting of land subsequent to 1779).
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Legal. Historical and Factual Analysis

All of the evidence here satisfies me that the agreements referred to as

"treaties" entered into in 1760 and 1761 in Nova Scotia between prominent

officials of the Government of Nova Scotia and various representatives of the

Mi'kmaq people, are valid treaties in law; The Supreme Court ofCanada has noted

that a treaty with a Canadian aboriginal group is a unique agre~ent; it is an

agreement sui generis which is neither created nor terminated according to the

rules of international law. The Treaties of 1760-61, and the surrounding

circumstances and events, demonstrate the existence of an intention to create

obligations, the presence of mutually binding obligations and the necessary degree

of solemnity. (R. v. Sioui, [1990] I S.C.R. 1025 atp.1044.] These treaties were

entered into, on the British side by Governor Lawrence,· in .some cases, and by

Lieutenant Governor Belcher (or possibly by Belcher in his capacity as President

of the Council). The Mi'kmaq representatives at the treaty ceremonies appear all

to have been Sakamows and they would have had and did have, the authority to .

enter such treaties. Each side recognized the authority of the other representatives

to· ent~r these treaties..

These treaties were entered into for the benefit of .both the British and the

Mi'kmaq. The treaties were to achieve and maintain peace as well as provide a

mechanism for trade. D'ispute resolution was also addressed.

. The submissions of the Crown and the Defendant here are based on the

premise that these 1760-61 Treaties are valid treaties. TIle Defendant relies on

. these treaties, taken in their proper context, as the source of rights which he

submits entitles him to an acquittal. The Crown, throughout, has considered these

treaties as the operative ones for determining the extent of the Defendant's rights.

The principal issues in this case revolve around determining the contents of the
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treaties and the meaning and interpretation of certain provisions.

.Certain principles of interpretation have to be kept in mind when considering

treaties made with the·aboriginal peoples of Canada. Some of those principles, as

gleaned from recent case law, were reviewed by Cory J., speaking for the majority

in Badger v. R. (unreported), File No. 23603, April 3, 1996 (S.C.C.) at pp.1l-12.

There he says, in part:

First, it must be remembered that a
treaty represents an exchange of solemn
promises between the Crown and the various
Indian nations. It is an agreement whose
nature is sacred. See R. v. Sioui, [1990] 1
S.C.R. 1025, at p. 1063;. Simon v. The
Queen, [19851 2 S.C.R. 387, at p. 401.
Second, the honour of the Crown is always
at stake in its dealing with Iridian people.
Interpretations of· treaties and statutory
provisions which have an impact upon treaty
or aboriginal rights fiU$! be approached in a
manner which maintilins the integrity of the
Crown.: It is always assuri:J.ed that the Crown .
intends to fu1fiJ. its promises. No appearance
of "sharp dealing" will be sanctioned. See
Sparrow, supra,at pp. 1107-08 and 1114;
R. v. Taylor (1981),34 O.R. (2d) 360 (Ont.
C.A.), at p. 367. Third, any ambiguities or
doubtful expressions in the wording of the .
treaty ordoqument must be resolved in
favoUr of the IJidians. A corollary to this
principle is that any limitations which remct
the rights of Indians, under treaties must be
narrowly conmued. See Nowegijick v. The
Queen,[1983] 1 S.C.R. 29; at p. 36; Simon,
supra, at p. 402; SioU:i, supra, at p. 1035;
and Mitchell v. Peguis Indian Band, [1990]
2S.C.R. 85, at pp. 142-43..."
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Later in Badger (po 17), Mr. Justice Cory reviews "the applicable interpretive

principles" that "must be borne in mind" in that case. They are statedin light of

the facts and issues there, but many of the same issues (plus others) are present

before me. He states:

Treaties and statues relating to Indians
should be liberally construed and ariy
uncertainties, ambiguities or doubtful L

expressions should be resolved in favour of
the Indians.. In addition, when considering a

. treaty, a court must take into account the
conteXt in which the treaties were negotiated,
concluded and committed to writing. These
treaties, as written documents,. recorded an
agreement that had already been reached
orally and they did nQt always record the full
extent of the oral agreement: see AI~~ander

Morris, The Treaties or Canada with the
Indians of Manitoba and the North-West
Territories (1980), at pp.338-42; Sioui,
.supra,.at p. 1068; Report of the Aboriginal
Justice Inquiry of Manitoba (1991); Jean
Friesen,Grant Me Where\vjth To Make
My Living (1985). The treaties were
drafted in English by representatives of the
Canadian government who, it should be
assumed, were familiar with common law
doctrines. Yet, . the .treaties were. not
translated in written form into the languages
(here Cree and Dene) of the various Indian
nations who were signatories. . Even if they
had been, it is unlikely that the Indians, who
had a history of communicating only orally,
would have understood them any differently.
As a result, it is well settled that the words
in the treaty must not be. interpreted in their
strict technical sense nor subjected to rigid
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modem rules of construction. Rather, they
must be interpreted in the sense that they
would naturally have been understood by the
Indians at the time of the signing....

Cory J. in Badger, supra, refers to Taylor (see .excerpttom pp. 11-12)

which is also cited as R. v. Taylor and Williams (1981), 62 C.C.C. (2d) 227.

That judgment was previously referred to by the Supreme Court of Canada in R.

v. Sioui, supra. There, Lamer, J. (as he then was), for the Court, describes in his

own words some factors considered by the Court· of Appeal in Taylor and

Williams.as being relevant to an analysis of the historical background when

attempting to interpret a treaty. Those factors were (Sioui, supra, at p. 1045):

1. continuous exercise ofa right in the
past and at present, 2. the reasons why the
Crown made a commitment, 3. the situation
prevailing at· the time the document was

. signed, 4. evidence of relations of mutual
respect and esteem between the negotiators,
and 5. the subsequent conduct of the
parties.

In interpreting the Treaties of 1760-61 (i.e. determining their contents and

meaning), I have examined everything that could be considered as providing the

"context" within which the treaties were created.

One of the crucial aspects, when looking at the context of these treaties, is

the vast cultural·and linguistic differences between the Mi'kmaq and the British.

Relevant issues ofMi'kmaq custom and language which were commented on in the

evidence and submissions, and which I have considered, include the following.
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l. The consensual and non-coercive nature of Mi'kmaq
society and, consequently, the possible inability of the Mi'kmaq to
understand such words and concepts as "subject", "submission",
"allegiance" and "dominion".

2. The importance of oral communication and the absence of
any history ofwritten language. As a result, the Mi'kmaq placed great
significance on what was said and therefore language translation and
understanding were significant issues. L

3. The Mi'kmaq approach to their relationships with other
peoples. This approach required acts of friendship and good will at
regular intervals to maintain friendly relations. As well, the status of
any relationship at a given point in time reflected everything that had
gone on in the past between the two. (The latter is significant, in part,
because it has been urged upon me that the Mi'kmaq would naturally
have considered all of the treaties, discussions and promises with the
British prior to the 1760-61 Treaties as part of a continuous chain that
included those treaties.)

On the British side, they possessed a language that was both written and

.spoken. It was and is British cultural tradition to place great importance on written .

documents as establishing a record ofevents and agreements. British officials were

experienced at negotiating and draftiJig treaties. The written version ofthe 1760-61

treaties was composed and recorded by British officials. Any interpreter utilized

was probably employed by the British.. (Father Maillard was employed by the

British as interpreter at some, and perhaps most, of the treaty signings and

ceremonies in 1760 and 1761. He was a French priest with a long history of close

contact with the Mi'kmaq and that raises additional issues about his actions as an

interpreter, all of which I have considered.)

Another major component ofthe treaties' context is, obviously, the historical
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background: . Some of that historical background I have set out in this decision.

However, there are some features of it that I consider to be particularly pertinent.·

1. The 1760-61 treaties were the culmination of more than
a decade of intermittent hostilities between the British and the
Mi'kmaq. Hostilities with the French were also prevalent in Nova
Scotia throughout the 1750's, and the Mi'kmaq were constantly allied
with the French against the British.

l:
2. The use of firearms for hooting had an important impact

on Mi'kmaq society. The Mi'kmaq remained dependant on others for
gun powder and the primary sources ofthat were the French, Acadians
and the British.

3. . The French frequently supplied the Mi'kmaq with food
and European trade goods. By the mid-18th century, the Mi'kmaq
were accustomed to, and in some cases relied on, receiving various

. European trade goods.

4. The defeat of the French and their withdrawal from Nova
Scotia left the Mi'kmaq to co-exist with the British without the
presence of their former ally and supplier. Much· of the Acadian
population had also been expelled or displaced by 1760.

5; The British had been victorious over the French in Nova
Scotia and they were in· the process of conquering all ofNew France.
They had cause to be more confident than ever before in the strength
of their position in Nova Scotia.

6. The British wan~edpeace and a safe environment for their
current and future settlers. Despite their recent victories, they did not
feel completely secure in Nova Scotia.

It is my opinion that this combination of factors contributed greatly to the

atmosphere in which the Treaties of 1760-61 were entered into. The Mi'kmaq had
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lost their major ally and supplier. Their ability to carry on.effective hostilities

against the British was substantially reduced. The Mi'kmaq would have perceived

the British to be in a superior military position in the Province. At least as

importantly, their justification for continuing hostilities against the British largely

disappeared when the French departed. The Mi'kmaq also needed a new supplier

of European goods and the British had become the primary pOlfltial source of

those goods.

With the full benefit of the cultural and historical context, I now need to

address the following questions. What did the Mi'kmaq and the British agree to and

intend to agree to in the Treaties of 1760 and 1761?Oirectly related to that are the

questions ofMi'kmaq understanding ofthese treaties' contents. Did they understand

and agree to all of the written portions of the treaties before me? Were there other

statements or promises made orally which the Mi'kmaq considered were part of

these treaties and which have an impact on their meaning? Did the Mi'kmaq

consider that previous treaties were renewed by and combined with the 1760-61

Treaties? Are there any other aspects of the historical record, whether referred to

me by CoUnsel for the defendant or otherwise, which reflect on the contents or the

proper understanding of the contents of these treaties?

When assessing the ability of the Mi'kmaq and the British to communicate

effectively with each other and reach a common understanding the following things

should not be overlooked. By 1760, the Mi'kmaq had been dealing with Europeans. " . .

in many different ways, including trade, for over 250 years. Permanent European

settlements had existed in Nova Scotia and New England for over 150 years. The

British and the Abenaki had been negotiating treaties and agreements together for

70 years. The British had been in control ofpresent-day mainland Nova Scotia for

almost 50 years and had previously negotiated treaties ofpeace and friendship with
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both the Mi'kmaq and the Maliseet. There had been significant, close, friendly

contact and co-existence between the Mi'kmaq and the French and Acadians for

over 100 years. (The relationship with the French included instruction in, and

attempted conversion to, Christianity.) A struggle, lasting more than 50 years, with

inte.rmittent warfare, had been waged between France and Britain for supremacy in

and over the lands occupied by the Mi'kmaq.
..!L-

In the Nova Scotia of 1760, the Mi'kmaq and their Sakamows would have

appreciated and understood the position that the British were in and what their

objectives were. The Mi'kmaq would have acquired that knowledge in several

ways. Most directly, they had the history oftheir own relationship with the British

in Nova Scotia over the last 50 years. They also had the benefit of their dealings,

and the Abenaki dealings, with the British in Massachusetts Bay going back·into

the 1600's. The Mi'kmaq alSo had a long and close relationship with the French,

another European power, who had their own plans for Acadia and New France.

The British wanted their King to be King over all of the land and territory

where the Mi'kmaq lived and beyond. The British expected that their King would

be the King of everyone who lived in Nova Scotia. By 1760, the Mi'kmaq would

have been under no misunderstanding about that.

The general iJitent of the 1760-61 Treaties would also not have been the

subject ofany misunderstanding by the Mi'kmaq becauseoflanguage or translation

problems. I am satisfied that the Mi'kmaq community had members who could

communicate in French: So did the British. They could communicate directly with

each other. Before entering into treaties with the Mi'kmaq beginning in March of

1760, the British entered their treaties with the Maliseet and Passamaquody. Those

negotiations were in French and the treaty signed on February 23, 1760 was in
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English and French. Both the Maliseet and Passamaquody had members who could

communicate in French. Knowledge of those treaties would quickly have come to

the Mi'kmaq. Among the first group of Mi'kmaq Sakamows to sign treaties with

the British in March, 1760 was Paul Laurent from LaHave. He was a respected

Sakamow and he spoke English. He was one of the principal spokesmen for the

Mi'kmaq with the British during the latter half of the 1750's.
L-

It is fundamental to the Treaties of 1760 and 1761 that they are peace

treaties, that they acknowledge the jurisdiction of the British King over Nova

Scotia, that any quarrels or misunderstandings between the Mi'kmaq and the British

will be redressed according to British laws and that trade with the Mi'kmaq will be

carried out in accordance with the terms in the trade clause. Those subjects are at

the heart of the treaties. Every Mi'kmaq Sakamow or his representative came to

Halifax in 1760 and 1761 and entered into these treaties. That process took over

18 months. There was no misunderstanding or lack of agreement between the

British and the Mi'kmaq about the essential ingredients of these treaties as they

appear in written form before me.

It is my conclusion that the Treaties of 1760-61 include the written versions

of those treaties entered in evidence. I also have to consider whether that

constitutes the entire extent of those treaties. Given the oral nature of Mi'kmaq

society, I have to consider whether there were any promises or commitments made

by the British which were not included in the written treaties and which shouldbe

considered as part of the treaties.

Governor Lawrence and the Council met with representatives ofthe Maliseet

and Passamaquody at Halifax on February 11th, 1760, twelve days before the treaty

with them was signed. (The British referred to the Maliseet as the St John's, or

the St. John's River, Indians.) Likewise, Paul Laurent and Michel Augustine met

1
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with the Governor and Council on February 29th, 1760 and then signed their·

treaties on Marcbl0th. Minutes of both those Council meetings were before me

in evidence. The treaty entered into between the British and the Maliseet and

Passamaquody is in conformance with the earlier discussions between the parties.

The understanding conveyed to the Mi'kmaq deserves further comment

The Treaty of 1760 with the Maliseet and Passamaquo2 renews and

confirms the Articles of Submission and Agreement made at Boston in December,

1725 and the subsequent ratification of those terms in 1749 (both in Halifax and

at the Saint John River). It clearly states what the parties are intending to renew

and confirm by quoting the previous documents verbatim. The 1760 Treaty also

includes additional terms.

At the February 29thnieeting with the GovemorandCouncil, the minutes

reflect that the following exchange occurred with Paul Laurent and Michel

Augustine:

"His .Excellency then Ordered the
Several Articles of the Treaty made with the
Indians ofSt. John's River and
Passamaquody lobe CommuniCated to the
said Paul Laurent and Michel Augustine who
expressed their satisfaction therewith, and
declar'd that.all the Tribe of the Mickmacks

. would be glad to lnake peace upon the same
Conditions."

Ten days later, Laurent and Augustine entered into their respective treaties.

Those treaties make no mention of earlier treaties or the renewal of earlier treaties.

.In light of that, I have to determine the significance of what took place at the

February 29th meeting. Should the conversation noted in the minutes have any



,
effect on how I interpret the Mi'kmaq treaties? Did that conversation have ai.,
impact on the ultimate understanding Laurent and Augustine had about the contents\

,
of the treaties they entered into?

Professor Patterson suggests in his testimony «tat the omission of any

reference to earlier treaties or the renewal ofearlier treaties in the Mi'kmaq Treaties

of 1760-61 was intent~onal. In his opinion, the British in 1760 wisted to treat with

the Mi'kmaq de novo and these treaties do not renew any earlier treaties.

,Dr. Reid and Dr. Wicken both testified that the Mi'kmaq, by virtue of their

own'treaty-making tradition, and Laurent and Augustine in particular, because of

the reading of the Maliseet and Passamaquody Treaty to them, would have

believed that the earlier treaties were part and parcel of what they were agreeing

to in these new treaties. The opinion was expressed that thilt was also the British

view based on correspondence from Governor Lawrence to the Board of Trade in

May of 1760 where he states:

"At the same time two Deputies of the
tribes of St. John's River andPassamaquody
Indians came here to ask for Peace which I
concluded with them, and, in a few days
afterwards made a Peace on the same terms,
with the Tribes ofRichbuctou, Musquadaboit
and LaHave, who sent their Chiefs here for
that purpose."

It is my conclusion thllt the 1760-61 Mi'kmaq Treaties did not renew earlier

treaties. That is consistent with the treaties themselves and is confirmed by the

manner in which they were viewed and acted on thereafter.

I am also satisfied there would not have been any misunderstanding by

, Laurent and Augustine over the contents of the treaty they were signing because .

of the exchange they had at the February 29th meeting. Paul Laurent spoke

\

\,,
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English and would have· understood the terms of the treaty he and the other two

Sakamows signed on March lOth. He would also have recognized the different

wording and format in the Maliseet and Passamaquody Treaty. (So would Michel

Augustine, either because he was told by Laurent, or because Laurent's presence

would have insured the integrity of any interpreter's translation.)

The Malliseet and Passamaquody Treaty reproduces comJtetely the 1725

Articles and the 1749 renewals, including preambles and those signing each

document That is the principal reason why the wording and format of that treaty

is different. Beyond that, the contents of these treaties are essentially the same.

Every term in the 1725 Articles quoted in the Maliseet and Passamaquody treaty

is in the Mi'kmaq Treaty. Of the new clauses in both treaties (i.e. ones notfound

in the 1725 Articles), only-one clause is found in the Mi'kmaq Treaty and not in

the other (i.e., a requirement to report any designs against the King's subjects by

his enemies). The trade clause in the Mi'kmaq Treaties is worded somewhat

differently, but its thrUst is the same. If anything, the trade clause in .the Mi'kmaq

Treaties provided more flexibility and options for the Mi'kmaq.

In my view, the treaties entered into by Laurent and Augustine on March 10,

1760, did "make peace upon the same conditions" as the Maliseet and

Passamaquody, and Governor Lawrence's characterization of the treaties to the

Board of Trade as being "on the same terms" can't be quarrelled with.

The Mi'kmaq would have developed an understanding of European written

communication and the significance placed on it More particularly, the Mi'kmaq

did learn to appreciate the importance ofthe written word in treaty-making and the

value of having a copy of a treaty as proof of what was agreed to.
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.Michel Augustine remained an influential Mi'kmaq Sakamow for many years;

He kept a copy of his 1760 Treaty and presented it to the commander of the sloop

"Viper" in 1779 and it was used as a model for a treaty signed with the new

Sakamow of the Miramichi Mi'kmaq whose previous Sakamow had been in

rebellion against the British.

L

Once the Maliseet and Passamaquody Treaty and the first three Mi'kmaq

treaties were entered into, with Sakamows who canie from different regions of

NovaScotia, I do not accept that other Sakamows would have entered their treaties

with any different understanding of the contents. Any attempt by the British or an

interpreter (Le., Father Maillard) to obscure the true nature of what the written

treaties contained, or interpret them differently, would be detected, ifnot instantly,

then within a short time, and there is no evidence of this. Moreover, the British

did not want to or need to conceal what they were seeking.

The written treaties with the Mi'kmaq in 1760 and 1761 which are before me

contain, and fairly represent, all the promises made and all theterms and conditions

mutually agreed to.

.• Having verified the actual contents of the Mi'kmaq Treaties of 1760

and 1161, I now refer to the trade clause, common to alL To re~state, that trade

clause says:

"And I do further engage that wewill
not traffick, barter' or exchange any
commodities in any manner but with such
persons or the managers of such truckhouses
as shall be appointed or established by His
Majesty's Governor at [truckhouse location
closest to the village in question] or
elsewhere in Nova Scotia or Accadia."

"
"
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It is submitted on behalf of the Defendant that this clause, considered in the

appropriate historical context, gives the Mi'kmaq, and in particular the Defendant,

the right to fish and the right to sell fish. Do these treaties convey such a right?

The Mi'kmaq of the 18th century lived and obtained their fo,od by hunting,
10.-

fishing and gathering. It is clear that the British in Nova Scotia in 1760 would

have understood that. The Mi'kmaq had been trading (primarily furs, but generally

whatever their hunting, fishing and gathering produced) with Europeans for

approximately 250 years before 1760. The price list negotiated to establish the

values of certain skins and feathers that would be traded at the truckhouses

illustrates SOme ofthe items that, it was anticipated"would be traded for the various

commodities in the truckhouses. That Wlls not an exclusive list. All three

witnesses who testified concluded that fish might be among the items that the

Mi'kmaq would bring to trade at the truckhouses. (That fish might be fresh or

dried.)

I accept as inherent in these treaties that the British recognized and accepted

th~ existing Mi'kmaq way of life. Moreover, it's my conclusion that the British

would have wanted the Mi'kmaq to continue their hunting, fishing and gathering

lifestyle. The British did not want the Mi'kmaq to become a long-term burden on

.. the public treasury although they did seem prepared to tolerate certain losses in

their trade with the Mi'kmaq for the purpose of securing and maintaining their

friendship and discouraging their future trade with the French. I am satisfied that

this trade clause in the 1760-61 Treaties gave the Mi'kmaq the right to bring the

products of their hunting, fishing and gathering to a truckhouse to trade.

As I stated earlier, the truckhouses envisaged by these treaties did not last
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existed at that time. It was a pre-requisite to the Mi'kmaq being able to trade under

the terms ofthe trade clause that the British provide trqckhouses or appoint persons

to trade with. When the British stopped doing that, the requirement (or if I had

taken the Defence view, the option) to trade with truckhouses or licensed traders

disappeared. The trade clause says nothing about that eventuality and it is my view

that no further trade right arises from the trade clause.
L

Any trafficking, bartering or exchanging-of commodities which theMi'kmaq

practiced after the demise ofthe truckhouses and the system of licensed traders was

not derived from any right conveyed by the 1760-61 Treaties, with the exception

-of the right to apply for redress of any quarrel or misunderstanding according to

applicable British laws.

The Defendant claims that the 1760-61 Treaties provide himwith aright to

fish and sell the fish. The burden is on him to establish the existence of such a

right in these treaties, by using the principles of interpretation to which I have

referred. He has not met that burden. -The interpretation offered on behalf of the
- .

Defendant ofthe trade clause and the treaties, placed in the historical context which

is suggested as the appropriate one, is not one that I accept. I cannot conclude that

it was the common intention of the parties that these treaties convey such a right.

Mr. Justice Lamer, speaking for the Court in R. v. Sioui, supra, at p. 1069

states:

"Even a generous interpretation of the
document, such as Bisson, J. A.'s­
interpretation, must be realistic and reflect
the intention of both parties, not just that of
the Hurons. The Court must choose from
among the various possible interpretations of
the common intention the one which best

I
I
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reconciles the Hurons' interests and those of
the conqueror."

The British did not intendto convey, and would not have conveyed, the right

which the Defendant claims as a treaty right. Mi'kmaq concerns in 1760 were very

focused and immediate. Conveying the right which the Defendant here claims from

this trade clause is not even among the "various possible intel'p8tations of the

common intention" of the Mi'kmaqand the British.

The Defendant has specifically put forward the Treaties of 1760 and 1761 as

the source of any rights applicable to the charges he faces. While lam clearly

.asked to consider those treaties, and to do so in their'proper historical context, it

is also clear that the only source of rights I aiD. asked to consider are those treaties.

In the written submissions, Counsel for the Defendant states that:.·

Other sources of rights, such as· the concept of
aboriginal rights, the treaty of 1752, the treaty of 1725-26
and Belcher's Proclamation of 1762 need not be formally
adjudicated upon.... If the rights in question cannot be
found in the treaties of 1760-61, the Defence submits that
the case should be disposed of without prejudice to other

.. possible sources of Mi'kmaq'rights."

I concur. If the Defendant is not putting forward, and thus is not effectively

presenting, a particular source for alleged rights, it would not be appropriate. or

necessary for me to rule on that source. My comments and findings here should

be interpreted accordingly.

Conclusion

I am satisfied that the Treaties of 1760 and 1761 between the Governor (or

j
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other official) of the British Colony of Nova Scotia and the Mi'kmaq are valid

treaties. They were entered into, on behalf of the Mi'kmaq, by Sakamows of all·

the known villages at that time.· Those treaties apply to all Mi'kmaq in Nova Scotia

today and were applicable to the Defendant on August 24, 1993 at Pomquet

Harbour, Antigonish COWlty.

The Defendant has claimed that the 1760-61 Treaties pro~dehim with a

right to fish and sell fish as he was doing here. The Defendant bears the burden

of establishing that. He has not met that burden. Rather, I have concluded that

these treaties do not convey such a right. The legislative regime under which these

charges are brought is applicable to the Defendant.

The agreed statement of facts here supplies evidence of the Defendant's

actions in relation to all of the elements of the offences charged. Based on the

admitted facts, the Crown has established the guilt of the Defendant on all three

charges beyond a reasonable doubt.

I fmd the Defendant guilty as charged on all three counts;

DATED at Antigonish in the County ofAntigonish, Province ofNova Scotia,

this:. 27th day of June, A.D., 1996.

1

I

---~ <sC5& 9=)£.~ p

John D. Embree
Judge of the Provincial Court
Province of Nova Scotia
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APPENDIX I

ImGULATIONS RESPECTING FISHING IN
THE PROVINCES OF NOVA SCOTM

NEW BRUNSWICK AND PRINCE EDWARD ISLAND
AND IN ADJACENT TIDAL WATERS

Short Title

46

I. These Regulations may be cited as the Maritime Provinces Fishery
Regulations. !L-

PART I

GENERAL

Licensing and Registration

4. (1) Subject to subsections (2) to (5), no person shall fish for or catch and
retain any fish unless

(a) the person is authorized to do so under the authority ofa licence issued
under these Regulations, the Fishery (General) Regulations or the Aboriginal
Communal Fishing Licences Regulations;

(b) the person holds a fisher's registration card; and
(0) where a vessel is used in fishing, a vessel registration card has been

issued in respect of that vessel.

(2) A person may retain
(a) . shad incidentally caught with gaspereau fishing gear operated under the

authority of a license;
(b) striped bass incidentally caught with any fishing gear operated under.

the authority of a license; and
(c) tomcod incidentally caught with smelt fishing gear operated under the

authority of a licence.

(3)
(a)
(b)

tools;

Subsection (1) does not apply in respect of
recreational fishing by angling or with set lines:
recreational fishing for clams or mussels by hand or With hand-held
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(c)" recreational fishing for eels, smelt or tomcod with spears in tidal water;
(d) recreational fishing for smelt with dip nets;
(e) recreational fishing for gaspereau with dip nets in waters other than

(i) the inland and tidal waters of Prince Edward Island, and
(ii) the inland waters of the Miramichi River and the Saint John River;

(f) fishing for oysters in a leased oyster area; or
(g) fishing for minnows with minnow traps or dip nets.

(4) Paragraphs (l)(b) and (c) do not apply in respect of fishing under the
authority of a recreational fishing licence or a licence issued under the Aboriginal
Communal Fishing Licences Regulations. .L

(5) Paragraph (l)(c) does not apply in respect of fishing for oysters in a
public oyster-fishing area in the inland or tidal waters of Prince Edward Island.

Gear Restrictions

20. No person shall fish for at).y spe"cies of fish in the waters setout in column
I of an item of Schedule III by a method set out in column II of that item during
the close time set out in column III of that item.

REGULATIONS RESPECTING FISHING AND FISH HABITAT IN
GENERAL AND THE PAYMENT OF PENALTY AND FORFEITURE

PROCEEDS UNDER THE FISHERIES ACT

Short Title

1. These regulations may be cited as the Fishery (General) Regulations.

Sale ofFish

35. (1) This section does not apply in respect of marine mammals.
(2) Subject to subsection (3), no person shall buy, sell, trade, barter or

offer to buy, sell, trade or barter any fish unless it was caught and retained under
the authority of a licence issued for the purpose of commercial fishing, a licence
issued under Part VII, a licence issued under the Aboriginal Communal Fishing

I
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.Licences Regulations in which the Minister has authorized the .sale of fish or an
Excess Salmon to Spawning Requirement Licence issued under the Pacific Fishery
Regulations, 1993. .

FISHERIES ACT

R.S.C., 1985, c. F-14 .

Offence and Punishment

78.. Except as otherwise provided in this Act, every person who contravenes this
Act or the regulations is guilty of

(a) . an offence punishable on summary conviction and liable, for a first
. offence, to· a fine not exceeding one hundred thousand dollars and, for any
subsequent offence, toa fme not exceeding one hundred thousand dollars or to
imprisonment for a term not exceeding one year, or to both; or

(b) anindietable offence and liable,for a first offence, to a fine not
exceeding five hundred thousand dollars and, for any subsequent offence, to.a fme
nofexceeding five hundred thousand dollars or to imprisonment for a term not
exceeding two years, or to both.
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APPENDIX II

ARTICLES OF SUBMISSION AND AGREEMENT lIade. ·at Boat.on, in New
Enrland, by Sanruaarall aliaa Loron Arexus, Francoia Xavier and
Heranullbe, dele~ates froll Penobscott., N~rid,wack, St.. Johns, Cape
Sables and other t.ribes hihabi Un, wi t.hin Ria MaJest.y' a t.err1t.orles
of Nova Scotia or New Enrland.

,,"hereas Ria MaJeaty Kin, Geor,e by concession of t.he Most. ChrhUan
Kin" lIade at. t.he. Treat.y of Ut.recht., ia becOile t.he ri,hUul
ponenor of t.he Province of Nova ScoUa or Acadia accordinr to it.s
ancient. boundaries: . We, the.aid Sanruaarall aUaa Loron Arexus,
Francois Xavier and He,anullbe, delerates froll the said tribes of
Penobscott., Narldcwack, St. Johna, Cape Sables and other tribes
inhablUnr wit.hin Ria HaJeaty's sdd t.erritories of Nova ScoUaor
Acadia and New Enrland, do, ·1n the name and behalf 'of the add
tribes we represent., acknowledge His aaid HaJesty Kinr Georre's
Jurisdiction and dominion over t.he territories of the said Province
of Nova Scotia 'or Accadia, andllake our .ubmisaion to His said
Majesty in as allple a lIanner as we have formerly done to the lIost
ChrisUan Xins.

And. we furt.her promise on behalf of the said trJbea we represent
that the Indians sball not lDolest any of His HaJestie's subJecta
01" their dependanta in their set.ilementa.already lIade or lawfull7
to be aade, or in· their carryin, on their traffick and ot.her
affairs within the said Province.

That if there happens any robbery or outra,e committed by anr of
the Indians, the tribe .01' tribes' they belon, to shall Cause

• satisfaction and restitution to be aadeto the part.ies injured.

That the Indiana shall· not help· to· convey away any soldiers
belon,inr to His Haje.atie'. forts~. but on the contrary shall brin,
back an)' soldier they shan flnd endeavourin, to run away.

That in caae of any lIisunderstandine, quarrel or injury between the
Enl1iah and the IndianS no privatereven,e shall be taken, but
application shall be lIade for redress accordin, to His Hajestie's
laws.

That if the· Indlans have aade any prisoners belon,in, to tbe
Governllent of Nova Scotia or Acadia durin, the course of the war
the,. . shall be released at or before the ratification of thia
treaty. .

That this treaty shall be ratified at Annapolis Royal

Dated at the· Council Chamber in Boston in· New Eneland, this
fifteenth da), of Decellber, Anno Domini,one thousand seven hundred
and twent)' flve, Annoq. Reeni .Reeill Georell, Haena Britannia, ..
c., lIuodeciao.

4.
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Sicned, lealed and delivered in
presence or the Great and
General Court or ASlembly or the
Province or the Haslachueitl Ba~

•

. .

Sancuaaraa Itotem'
IL,S.I .
Arexel Itoteml
Franc·oil Xavier
Hacanumbe itoteml

•
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IL.S.I
IL.S. I
IL.S. I·
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APPENDIX III

Articles of Peace and Agreement, signed by Indians at Annapolis Royal,
June 4, 1726-
Source: CO 217/38

Whereas By Artcles of Peace & Agreement Made & Concluded
upon at Boston In New England the Fifteenth Day of DecemberOne
thousand seven hundred & Twenty ffive by our Delega\es and
Representatives, Sanguarum (alias) laurence Alexis, Franco~vler
and Meguanumbe as Appears by the Instnunents there signed Sealed
& Exchanged In the Presence of the Great and General Court or
Assembly of the Massachusetts Bay, by our said Delegates In Behalf
of us the indians of Penobscut Norrigewock Sf. John's Cape Sables
and the other Indian tribes belonging to and inhabiting In ThIs his
Majestie ofGreal Britains Terrilories of Nova SColia & New England,
And by Majr Paul Mascarene Commissioner from this said ProvInce
In Behalfe of his Majestle, By which Agreement It being Required
that the said Articles should be Ratifyed here at his Majesties fort of
Annapolis Royall, We the Chiefs & Representatives of the satd
Indians with full Power & Authority, by an Unanimous Consent and
Desire of the said Indian Tribes are come In Complyance with the .
Articles stipulated by our Delegates as aforesaid, and doe In
Obedience Thereunto Solemnly Conrume & Ratify the same and In
Testimony thereofwith hearts full of Sincerity we have signed &
&eaI'd the CoUowing Ankles being Confonne to whal was Required by
the said Majr Paul Mascarene and Promised to be Penonned by our
said Delegates. .

Whereas His Majestie KIng Geofle, by the Concession of the
most Christian King made at the Treaty of Utrecht Is become the
rlghtfull Possessor of the Province of Nova Scotia or Accadla
According to Its Antlent· Boundat)'s, we the satd Chiefs &
Representatives of the Penobscut, Nonigewock St. johns capeSable &
the other Indian TrlJ)es belonging to & inhabiting within this bls
Majesties ProvInce ofNovaSCoda orAccadla & New England. Doe for
ourselves and the said TrIbes we Represent Acknowledge his said
Majesties· King George's Jurisdiction and Dominion Over the
Tenitorles of the said ProvInce ofNova Scotiaor Accadfa& make our
Submission to his said Majestie In as ample a manner as we bave
formerly done to the mostChristian KIng.

And we further promise In Bebalfe ofour selves and our said
TrIbes, That the indians shall not mollest any of bls Majesties
subjects In Their settlements already made or lawfuDy to be made
or In can}'lng on their Trade and other Affalres within the said
I'rovInce .
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That if there appears any Robbery or OUtrage Committed by
any ofour Indians, The Tribe or Tribes they belong to shall cause
Satisfaction to be made to the PartIes injured. .

. That the Indians shall not help to Convey away any Soldiers·
belonging to his MaJestys (orts but on the Contrary shall bring back
any Soldier they shaIJ flnde Fndeavouring to nm awa)'.

That In case of any misunderstanding QJ1arrel or Injury
Between the English & the Indians, no private Revenge shall be
taken, but Application shall be made for Redress According to this
Majesties lAws. . b

That If there be any English PrIsoners amongst any of our
aforesaid Tribes, We faithfu11y promise that the said prisoners sha11
be released & Carefully Conducted & Delivered to this Government or
that ofNew Fngland. .

That In Testimony ofour sincerity we have for ourselves and in
behalfofal1 & Singular our said Indian Tribes Conforme to what was
stipulated by our Delegates at Boston as aforesaid, This day Solemnly
Confirm and Ratifie Each and every oile of the aforegoing ArtcUes,
which shall be Punctually Observed & Duly Penonned by Each and
all of us the said Indians, In Witness Whereofwe have before the
Ueut Govemour John [)oucett & CounctU for this his majesties said
Province and the Deputees of the ffrench Inhabitants of said
province hereunto set our hands and seats at Annapolis Royall thIs
fourth day ofJune One thousand seven hundred and Twenty six and
In the Twelfth year ofhis Majesties Relgne.

joseph PimoIt ofSt john auer
let at. Including Paul Tecumart and John Baptist, Identified as

Chief Cape Sables; John Baptist and Tomas OU.itine, chiefs
Chubenacady, Antoine EgJgigish, ChIef IA Heve; john Qjlalette, chief
Minfs,] .

..

•
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[Text same as document 5 (a) signed by other Indians as foUows:]

Articles of Peace and Agreement, signed by Indians at Annapolis Royal,
June 4,1726 (group 2). . .
Soun.'e: 00 217/4 .

ChiefofCape sables
cape sables
ThlsRiver
Pantiquet
ThlsRiver
cape sables
Minis
Pantiquet
ThfsRiver
cape sables
of this River
d~
capesabtes
of this River
Pantiquet
Passammaquody .

John Baptist
Mathew Muse .
Joseph~et
,Jacque Pommeroit
Petit Jannain
Pierre Pimett
Auhln Rimquaret
Tomls Pommeroit
Eden Olegan
Rany Nacklaban
Pier Minchacett
Baptist Toma
JuraPimett
Francois Gennaln
Francois Xavier

. NoeUstompet
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APPENDIX IV

Treaty 01'

Articles of Peace and Friendship

Renewed

between

His Excellency Peregrine Thomas Hopson Esquire Captain General and
Governor in Chief in and over H18 Hajesty t s Province of Nova Scotia
01' Accadie. Vice Admiral of the same and Colonel~f One of His
Hajesty's Regiments of Foot, and His Hajesty's Council on behalf
of His Hajesty.

and

Hajor Jean Baptiste Cope chief Sachem of the X X X Tribe of Hick
Hack Indians, Inhabiting the Eastern Coast of, the said Province and
Andrew Hadley H'artin, Gabriel Hartin and Franc18 Jeremiah members
and Delegates of the said Tribe for themselves and their said Tribe
their heirs and the heirs of their heirs forever. Begun, made and
concluded in the manner form and Tenor followingvizt.

1. It is agreed that the Articles of Submission and Agreement
made at Boston in New Eneland by the Delesates of the
Penobscot Norridgwolk and St. Johns Indians in the year 1725
Ratifyed and confirmed by all the Nova Scotia Tribes at
Annapolis Royal in the Honth of June 1726 and lately Renewed
with Governor Cornwallis at Halifax'and Ratiffed at St. Johns
River, now read over Explained and Interpreted shall be and
are hereby from th18 time forward renewed t reiterated and
forever confirmed by them and their Tribe and the laid Indians
for themselves 'and their Tribe and their Heirs aforelaid do
make and renew the lame Solemn Submillions and promilel for
the Itrict observance of all the Articles therein Contained
as at any time heretofore hath been done.

2. That all Transaction during the late War shall on both aides
be burried' in Oblivion with the Hatchet, And that the said
Indianl shall have all favour, Friendsbip and' Protection Ihewn
them from this His Hajelty'. Government. ' '

3. That the said Tribe sball ule their utmost endeavours to brine
in the otber Indians to Renew and Ratiff this Peace and Iball
dilcover and make herein any attempts 01' desilnl of any otber
Indianl 01' any Enemy wbatever againlt His Hajelty'a Subjectl
within this Province ao soona. tbey ~hall know tbereof and
sball allo binder and Obstruct tbe same to tbe UtllOSt of tbeir
power, arid on the other band·if any of the Indianl refullng
to ratify this Peace shall make War upon tbe Tribe who have
now confirlled the same; the)' Iball upon Application ha\'e sucb
aid and Assiatance from the Government for their Defence, as
tbe cale lIa7 require.
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It is acreed that the said Tribe of Indians shall not be
hindered from, but have free liberty of Huntin, and Fishinl
as usual and, that if they shall think a Truckhouse need'full-' .at the R.iver Chibenaccadie or any other place of their resort,
they shall have the same bu'Ut ana proper Merchandize lodced
therein, to be exchan,ed for what the Ind~ans ahall have ~o

dispose of, and that in the mean time the said Indians shall
have free liberty to-brinl for Sale to Halifax or any other
Settlement within this Province, Skins, feathers, fowl, fish
or any other thine they ahall have to sell, where they shall
have liberty to dispose thereof to the best Ad~ntale. '

That. Quantity of bread, flour, and such other Provisions as
.can be procured, necessary for the FamUys, 'and propo'rtioliable~•

(to the number of the said Indians shall be iiveri them half '
yearly for the time to come; and t~e-aame regard shall be
had to the other Tribes that shall hereafter Acree to renew
and Ratify the Peace upon the Terms and Conditions no~

Stipulated.

Tha t to Cherish a load harmony and - mutual Correspondance
between the said Indians and this Government His Excellency
Peregrine Thomas Hopson E"sqr. Capt. General and,Governor in,
Chief in and over his Majesty's Province of Nova Scotia or
Accadie, Vice Admiral of the same and Colonel of one of His
Majesty's Reliments of Foot, hereby promises on the part of
His Majesty, that the said Indians shall upon the first day
of October Yearly, so lonl as they shall Continue in
Friendship, Receive Presents of Blankets, Tobacco, aome Po~der

and Shott and the aaid Indi.ns promise once ever,. Year, upon
the aaid !irat of October. Ito came by themselvea or their ,i

rDelelatea and Receive the. aaid Presents 'and Renew their
Friendship ,and Submissions.

That the Indiana shall uae their best Endeavours to save the
lives and loads of an,. People Shipwrecked on thia Coast where
they resort and shall'Conduct the People saved to Halifax with
their Goods, and a Reward adequate to the Salvadle shall be
liven them.

That fi~Di;pute.·wh~taoeverthat may bappen to arlae between
the Indians now at "eace, and others His Majesty's Subjects
ln this Province shall be tryed 111 His Majesty's Court of

f:ivl1 -Judicature,' where the Indians shall bavethe same
benefit,' "advantale and, Privlledles as any others of His
Majesty's Subjects.
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In Faith and Testi.on~ whereof the Great Seal of the Province i.
hereunto Appended, and the Partys to these· Presents have her~unto
interchanleably set the{r Hands in the Council Cha.ber at Halifax
this 22nd dav of Nov. 1152 in the 26th Year of Hi. HaJesty'. Reicn.

II,

,
, i·

t

~i
! I.

P. 'f. Hopson

Chas. Lawrence

Ben.i. Green

Jno. Salus bury

"'111111. Steele

Jno. Collier

Jean Baptiste Ihis .ark! Cop~

Andrew Hadley Ihi••ark! Hartin

Francoi. Ihi••ark! J~remie,.c-

Gabriel Ihis mark! Hartin
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APPENDIX V

ir~st~ or P~ac~ and Frl~ndshlP conclud~d ~ith ~r.~ O~l~cates 01 ~h~

St. Johns and Passalllaquod~" Tribes of Indians at Halifax. Februar'"
1;60.

"'her~as Articles of Submission and Allre~:nent ~~re made ar.::1
concluded at Boston in Sew Enllland in th~ Year of our Lord 1;25 bv
San~uaccram alias Loron Thexus'Francois Xa\'ier and H~l!'anumbe.
Delellates from the Tribes of Penobscott Karid,~alk, St. Johns and
other tribes inhabitinrHis Majest,'s Territories of ~ova Scotia
and ~e~ [n,land. in manner and form, followinr Vi~.

Articles of Submission and Acreement at Boston in Se~ En~lanc

b~" Sanf(uaccr&1I als Loron Thexus Francois Xa\"ier and Heranumbe
Oele,ates froll the Tribes of Penobscott Sarid,~alk St. Johns Cape
Sable and other Tribes of the Indians inhabitin, Io"ithin His
~aJ~st"s Territories of ~ova Scotia and ~ew E~,lan~.

~her~as His ~aJest, Kin, Georce b, the Concession of themost
Christian Kin, lIad~ at the Treat)" of Utrecht is become the
Ri,htfull possessor of the Province of Nova Scotia or Aceadie
according to its ancient. Boundaries We the said San(uaecram als
Loron Thexus Francois Xavier' and Me,amumbe Oele,ates from the said
Tribes of P~nobseott Naridl!'~alk St, Johns, Ca~e Sab1es and other
Tribes inhabitln, within hisMajes~,'s said Territories of Nova
Scotia or Accaelie and New [n,land Do in the Name and behalf of the
said Trib~s ,,"e r~present acknolo"ledge his Said ~ajest' Kin, Ge6rlles
Jurisdiction and Dominion over the Territories of said Province of
Sova Scotia or Accadie and make our Submission to his Said Majesty
in as ample a Ilanner as We have formerly done to the Most Christian.
Kinr, '

And ve further promise in behalf of the .. id Tribes we
represent that the Indians shall not 'molest an, of His Majest,'s
Subjects or their Dependants in their Settlementsalreadll' or
lawfull~ to be .ade or 1n their carrlinr on their Trade and other
aftairs vi thin said Province.

That if there happens any Robber)', or outrere COlllmitted b~" an)'
ot the Indians the Tribe or Tri bes the)' belon. to shall cause
Satisfaction and Restitution to be made to the Parties ~nJured.

That the Indians shall not help to convey away any Soldiers
beloneinr to His HaJesty's Forts. but on the contrar, shall brine
back anl soldier they shall lind endeavourin, to run Ava,. '

•

That, In case of any misunderstandinc Quarrell or In,tur)'
between the EnrUsh and the Indians no prhaa Reven,e shall be
taken but applica~ion shall be made tor Redress accordin, to his
Ma,lest.l's laws.
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That if the lndians ha\'e made an~' Prisoners belcn(inl! to the
~c~'rnment of No~a Scotia or Aecadi~ durinc the course of the ~ar

~:,.e~' shall be released at or before the Ratification of tr.a
':' :-ea to)-.

That this Treaty shall be Ratified at Annapolis Roral.

Dated at the Council Chamber at Boston in Ne~ £ncland thIS
!ifteenth day of December An Dom, one thousand Seven hundred an~
twenty five Anno, R.R. GeorlY Hal Britan and Duode~o.

~hich Articles of Submission and Acreement were renewed a~d

confirmed at. Halifax in Nova Scot.ia in the Year of Our Lord J 7a
c\- Joannes PedousaChuCh Chief of the Tribe of Chicnect.o Indians e.nd
Francois Aroudorvish, Simon Sact.arvino and Jean ' Baptiste
~addouanhook. Deputies from t.he Chiefs of the St. Joh~s Indians ~~

:anner and form fol10wing Vizn.

I Johannes Pedousachuch Chief of the Tribe of Chicnecto.
!ndians for myself and in behalf of my Tribe my Heirs and the~r

~eirs forever and We Francois Aurodorvish, Simon Sactarvino and
:ean Baptiste Haadouanhook Deputies from the Chiefs of the St.
:ohns Indians and In\'ut.ed b~' them with full po~ers for that
rurpose Do in the most solemn manner renew the above Articles of
Acreement and Submission and ever)' Article thereof with His
Excellency Ed~ard Cornwallis Esq Captain General anc Governor in
Chief in and over His Hajestys Province of Nova Scoti.a or Accadle
Vice Admiral of the Same Colonel in His HaJestys Service and one
of his bed Chamber In Witness whereof I .the said Johannes
Fedousafhufh have Subscribed this Treaty and affixed by Seal and
lOe the said .Francois Aurodorvisah Simon Sact.arvino and Jean
~aptist.e Haddouanhook in behalf of the Chiefs of t.he Indian Tribes
~e Represent. have Subscribed and affixed our Seals t.o the Same an~

encalle that the said Chiefs shall Ratifie this Treaty at St.. Johns.
:'one in Chibuct.o Harbour the fifteenth of Aueult. One Thousand Se\'en
hundred and fort.y nine. .

In Presence of P. Hopson, Hascarence, Robt. Ellison, lam T.
~ercer, Chas Lawrence, Edn How, Ed.. Gorha., BenJ, Green, John
Salusbur)', RuCh Davidson, William Steele (Kembers of t.he Council
for Nova Scotia I

Johannes Pedousachsieh

Francois Arodorviah

Silllon Sact.arvino

Jean Bap.t. Haddouanhook
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0.

Ed.d HOIl. Olle of RisKa.jest)"'. Coullcll
. Sath Dellnal'
John Beare
Joseph Vinniett.

.John WOAD
Rob Kc~oun

MaU.WinDiett
JohnPhUUpp•.

. . . .
And Whereas the said Articles ofSUbmission and Agreement, so made and
C"OnC'luded, renewed, mnfirmed, and ratified have nolWlth,;fanding, heen slnre
violated contrary to the good Faith therein engaged for the constant and strict'
Observation and performance thereofand to the Allegiance due from the said
Tribes to His Majesty Our Sovereign Lord King George We Mitchel Neptune
Ollerof the Tribe or indians of Passamaquody, and BaJlomy Glode Captain In
the Tribe oflndian,; ofSt. john's River Oelegates from the said Tribes and
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~y them fully authorised and i~powered to .ake and conclude with
H:s Excellency Chal Lawrence Esq.r His Hajesty's Captain General
and Governor in Chief of the Province of Nova Scotia or Accadie in"

. behalf of His Hajest)'s Governzent of the Said Province a Treat)' for
the r_ne\:al and future firm Establi ..hment of Peace and· Amity
between the said Tribes of Passamaquod)' and St•.'ohns River lnduns
and his Kajesty's other subjects and to renew the Acknowledement
cf the Allegiance of the said Tribes ~nd their engagements to a
~erfect and constant Submission and Obedience to His Hajesty Kine
George the Second his Heirs and Successors Do accordingly in the
na~e and behalf of the said Tribes of Passamaquody and St. Johns
hereby renew and Confirm the aforesaid Articles of Submission and
Acreement, and every part thereof and do solemnl)' »romise and
enga,e that the sue shall for ever hereafter be stric£Ty observed
and performed. ""

And We the said Mitchel Neptune and Ballom)' Glode, for
eurselves and in the name and behalf of the aaid Tribes of
Fassamaquody and St. Johns Indians Do respectively further promise
and engage that no person or persons belonging to the said Tribea
shall at any time hereafter aid or Assist any of the Enemies of His
Illest Sacred Hajesty King George the Second or of his Heirs and
Successors nor shall hold any Correspondence or Commerce with any
.uch His Majestys Enemies in any way or manner whatsoe"er and that,
fer the more effectually prevendnc an,. auch Correspondence and
Commerce vi th any of His HajestysEnelllies the said Tribes shall at
all tilllel hereafter TraCie and barter and exchanle Commodities with
the Hanagers of such Truekhouses as shall be established for that
purpose by his Majesty's Governors of this Province at Fort
Frederick or elsewhere within the Said Province and at no other
place without permission from Hia MaJestys Government of the said
Province. And We do in like lIlanner further promise and engage that
for the more effectuall, securing and due performance of this
Treat,. and ever, part tbereof a certain Number, vhich shall not be
lea. than Tbree froa each of the aforesaid Tribes, shall frolll and
after the Ratification hereot constantly reside in Fort Frederick"
.~ St. Johns or at such other place or places within the Province
•• ahall be appointed for that purpoae by Hia MaJestys Governors
of the said ProviDce as Hostaees, which Hostaees shall be exchaneed
for a like Number of others of the said Tribes vhenrequested.

And We do further prolllise and enlale that this Treat' and
ever,. part thereof shall be ratitled b,. the Chieta and Captains and
~ther principal petBona of the said Tribes for thelllselves and In
behalf of their Tribes at Fort Frederick aforesaid on or before the
20th of Hay next,

In Faith and Testilllon,. whereof We have Silned these Presenta
and caused the Seal of the Province to be hereunto affixed, And the
said Michel Neptune and Ballomy Glode have hereunto put their Harka



t.nd Seals in the Council Chamber at Halifax in t'O\'a Scotia t,
:- ...e n1.\' third Da\' of Februan' in the Year of 0;;:' Lord One Tholl'a\,
:e\"en hundred and si"t~' and 1n the ThirU' third "ear of Hi\
~:l\.iest~'·s Reu:lI. .

;. true Cop~'.

:)- His Excello rs ComDl
L.

r.lch.d Bulkele)' • Sec:.~·

. I
I
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APPENDIX VI

1760

7r~at~· of Puc.· and FriendshIp concluded t'· the Governor allc
:ommander in chief of N~va Scotia with Paul Laurent Chief of the
~aH~\'~ tribe 'of Indians· at HdHax • Authe::ticated cop~' ••••
r.a~inr slrnature of Governor Laurence •••• anc in the· holoeraph
cf Richard &ulkele~ Esquire • his Secretary

Five folio pares .",

Treaty of Peace and Friendship concluded b)' H..E.C.L, Esq. Go\'r
and Comr. in Chief in and over his Ha.lest~'s Pro\'lnce of Nova
Scotia or Accadia ~ith Paul Laurent chief of the LaHe\'e tribe of
!ndians at Halifax in the Province of N.S. or Acadia.

I. Paul Laurent do for myself and the tribe of LaHa\'e Indians
~! ~hlch I a. Chief do ackno~led~e the jurisc~ction and Dominion
cf Hil Hajesty Georlte the Second over the Terri tortes of No\'a
Scotia or Accadla and we do make submission to His Hajest~ in the
1Il0st perfect. ample and solemn manner.

. And I do promise for myself and lilY tribe that I nor they shall
l::lt molest an\' of His Ma.lesty's sub,lects or their dependents. in
their settlements alread)' lIlade or to be he:eafter lIlade or in
earr.yine on their COlDmerce or in any thine whatever within the
Province of His said Ha.lesty in an)' thin, ~hatever within .the
fro\'ince of His sud Ha.ieU.)' or elsewhere and .ifany insult,
robbery or outrace shall happen to be eommittec' by any of lilY tribe
satisfaction and restitution shall be lIlade to the person or persons
~nJured.

That neither I nor an~ ot Illy tribe.shall in any manner entice
any of his said Majesty's troops or soldiers to desert, nor in any
~anner assist in eonyeyine thelll away but on the eontrar, viII do
cur utmost endeayours tobrin. t.hem back to t.he Compan)', Re.illlent,
Fort or Garrison to vhich the, shall belone '

That it any Quarrel or Hisunderstandin. shall happen between
~,,"self and the Enl1ish or betveen thelll and any ot lilY tribe, neitherI: nor they shall take an, private aatbtaction or Reyence, but ve
will appl, tor redreis aecordine to the Lavs established in His
said MaJest,'s DOlinions,

That all En(lish prison~rs lIlade by lIlyselt or lilY tribe shall
be aett at Libert' and that ve viII Use our utmost endeavours to
prevail on the other tribes to do the sa.e, it an)' prisoners shall
happen to be in their hands, .,

. .
And I do turther prolllise tor lIlyself and lilY tribe that we will

~ot either directly nor indirectly assist any ot the enelllies of

•



His 1I0St sacred Ha.lest,.. Kinc Geortre the Second. his heirs or
~uccessors. nor hold any manner of Commerce traffick nor
~ntercourse with thell. but on the _ontrar~' will as much as lIa\' be
~n our po"'er discover and lIake known to HIS Ha,jest)··s Governor. anr
:11 desi~ns which lIay be for~ed or contrived a(alnst His Majest"s
subjects. And I do further enga,e that we will not traffIck.
barter or Exchant:e any Commodities in an)' manner but Io'ith such
;:-ersons or the lIanagers of such Truck houses as shall be appointed
cr EsUbl ished b)' His Ha,iesty's Governor at Lunenbourc or Else"'here
~n ~ova Scotia or Accadia.

L.
And for the more effectual security of the due performance of

:hi~ Treaty and every part thereof I do promise and En~alte that a
certain nUllber of persons of m)' tribe "'hichshall not be less in
:lumber than two prisoners shall on or before Septeinber next reside
as Hosta~es at Lunenburc or at such other place or Places in this
~rovince of Sova Scotia or Accadia as shall be appointed for that
purpose by His Hajesty's Governor of said Pro¥inc~ Io'hich Hostafes
shall be exchanged for a like number of Ill' tribe Io'hen requested.

And all these forecoing articles and everr one of them made
.,..ith His Excellenc,.. C. L., His Majesty's Governor I do promise for
lII)'seUand on of sd part - behalf of Ill'" tribe that we will most
strictlrkeep and observe in the 1Il0st solemn lIlanner.

In witness whereof I have hereunto putt II,.. mark arid seal at
Halifax 1n ~ova Scotia this dar of March one thousand

Paul Laurent

: do accept. and acree to all the articles of the forcoinc treat)'
in Faith and Testillony whereof I have silfned these present I have
caused Ill' seal to be hereunto affixed this da,.. of march in the 33
rear of His Hajest,'s Reien and in the year of Our lord - 1760 .

Cha. Lawrence
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By his' Excellenc)" s Command
Richard Bulkele, - Secty

Papers Relatine to Nova Scotia 1720-1791
Collection of tbe Rev, Andrew Brown DD
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APPENDIX VII

Treaty of 1779 with Micmac residing between Cape
Tormentine and Bay de Chaleurs, Windsor, Sept. 22, 1779,
C.O. 217/54, pp. 221-23.
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Whereas in May and july last a number of Indians at the
Instigation of the King's disaffected Subjects did Plunder
and Rob Mr. john Cort and several other of the English
Inhabitants at Mirimichy of the principal part of their
Effects in which transaction, we the undersigned Indians
had no concern, but nevertheless do blame ourselves,
for not having exerted our Abilitys more Effectually than
we did to prevent it, being now greatly distre§Sed and at
a loss for the necessary supply to keep us from the
Inclemency of the approaching winter and to enable us to
subsist our familys, And Whereas Captain Augustus
Hervey Commander of His Majestys Sloop Viper did in
july last (to prevent further Mischeif) Seize upon in
Mirimichy River) Sixteen of the said Indians one of which
was killed, three released and Twelve of the most
atrocious have been carried to Quebec, to be dealt with,
as His Majesty's Government of this Province, shall in
future Direct, which measure we hope will tend to restore
peace and good Order in that Neighbourhood

Be it known to all men, thatwe John julien, Chief,
Antoine Ameau Captain, Francis Julien and Thomas
Demagonishe councillors of Mirimichy, and also
Representatives of, and Authorized by, the Indians of
Pogmousche and Restigousche, Augustine Michel Chief,

. Louis Augustine Cobaise, Francis Joseph Arimph Captains,
Antoines, and Guiaume Gabelier Councillors of
Richebouctou, and Thomas Tanas Son and XXX
Representative of the Chief of jedyac, do fqr ourselves
and in behalf of the several Tribes of Mickmack Indians
beforementioned and all others residing between Cape
Tormentine and the Bay De Chaleurs in the Gulf of St­
Lawrence inclusive, Solemnly Promise and Enga[ge] to
and with Michael Francklin Esqr. the Kings .
Superindendant of Indian Affairs in Nova Scotia

That We will behave Q),lietly and Peaceably towards
all his Majesty King George's good Subjects treating them
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upon every Occasion in an honest friendly and Brotherly
manner

That we will at the Hazard of our Lives defend and
Protect to the utmost of our power, the Traders and
Inhabitants and their Merchandize and Effects who are or
may be settled on the Rivers Bays and Sea Coasts within
the forementioned Distri[ct] against all the Enemys of His
Majesty King George whether French, Rebells of Indians.

That we will whenever it shall be required
appprehend and deliver into the Hands of theJSaid Mr
Francklin, to be dealt with according to his Deserts, any
Indian or other person who shall attempt to Disturb the
Peace and Tranquillity of the said District.

That we will not hold any correspondance or
Intercourse with John Allen, or any other Rebell or
Enemy to King George, let his Nation or Country be what
it will

That we will use our best Endeavours to prevail
with all other our Mickmack Brethren throughout the
other parts of the Province, to come into the like
measures with us for their several Districts

And we do also by these presents for ourselves, and
in behalf of our several constituents hereby Renew,
Ratify and confirm all former Treatys, entered into by us,
or any of us, or them heretofore with the late Governor
Lawrence, and others His Majesty King Georges
Governors, who have succeeded him in the Command of
this Province.

·In Consideration of the true XXX performance of the
foregoing Articles, on the part of the Indians, the said Mr.
Francklin as the Kings Superindendant of Indian Affairs
doth hereby Promise in behalf of XX Government

That the said Indians and their Constituents shall
remain In the Districts beforementloned Q).llet and Free
from any molestation of any of His Majestys Troops or
other his good Subjects in their Hunting and Fishing
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That immediate measures shall be taken to cause
Traders to supply them with ammunition Clothing and·
other necessary Stores in exchange for their Furrs and
other Commoditys. In Witness whereof we the
abovementioned have Interchangeabl[y] set our hands
and Seals at Windsor in Nova Scotia this Twenty second
day of September 1779

[The names and marks of these persons follow:
john julien, Francis julien, Antoine Ameau, Thgrnas
Demagonische, all "of Mirimichy and acting for
Pogmo[uche] and Restigousche"; Augustine Michel,
Francs. joseph Arimph, Augustine Cobaise, Antoines,
Guiaume Gabelier, all "of Richebouctou"; Thomas Tanas,
"son and Representative of the Chief of jedyiec"; and
Michl. Francklin, "Superintendant of Indian Affairs in the
Province of Nova Scotia"]

[Five witnesses are listed in the left hand margin,
three of whom are identified as British officers of the
84th regiment, and two of whom as justices of the peace.]

[The document is attested "A true copy" by Michael
Francklin, Superintendant of Indian Affairs in Nova
Scotia; .a derk's note indicates that it was enclosed in Mr.
Francklin's letter of 26 Sept. 1779]
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